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This bakery, constructed in 1928, is part of the early history of the Marine
Barracks at Pearl Harbor. The Marine Barracks area is associated with
events that have made a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
Hawaii’s history, from the establishment of the first permanent Marine
garrison in Hawaii through the Marines’ contributions in World War Il
Additionally, the building embodies the distinctive characteristics of a
type, period, and method of construction, which are seen in other
buildings of the pre-WWII period at Marine Barracks. It contributes to the
Marine Barracks zone, which forms a distinct and historically significant
grouping at the Pearl Harbor Naval Base. It is located within the Pearl
Harbor Naval Base National Historic Landmark boundaries.

This single-story, rectangular structure originally was much smaller. The
original floor plan dimensions were 30'-2" x 40-1" and the height was
approximately 13'. It was constructed with a concrete slab foundation,
cast-in-place concrete walls, and a wooden roof structure. It originally
had a flat roof with parapets. There was a louvered projection on the roof
for ventilation.

In 1940 the building was extended on the southwest and northwest sides,
increasing the overall plan dimensions to 65'-2" x 70-1". The northwest
wall of the original structure was removed to enlarge the bakery space.
The southwest wall was cut down to the level of the bottom of the new
roof trusses and became part of the main interior dividing wall. The
dividing wall in the attic space was built of vertical tongue-and-groove
boards. The original chimney along this wall was removed and in its
place a new vent stack directly over the bakery oven was installed. The
extension on the southwest side provided storage space for bakery
supplies. The added areas were built with concrete slab foundation and
concrete frame with concrete masonry unit (CMU) infill. The walls of the
addition were stuccoed to match the appearance of the original portion's
concrete walls.
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A gabled wood-truss roof structure replaced the original flat roof, and a
taller louvered ventilation projection, housing an exhaust fan, was erected
in 1940. The original parapet on the northeast wall was retained and
extended along the new part of that wall, plus a matching parapet was
built on the new southwest wall of the building. These parapets were
joined to gable ends on the southeast and northwest walls, an unusual
combination of roof forms. The trusses are made of 2x8s, some doubled
and tripled, which are bolted together. Since the storage space was
designed to be slightly wider than the bakery space, the peak of the
gable is not over the main dividing wall, resulting in non-symmetrical truss
web framing. The roof structure has not been changed since 1940, but
the ventilation tower oven vent stack have been removed. Purlins resting
on the roof trusses support 2x10 sheathing. A 1981 drawing indicates
that new built-up roofing was installed over the sheathing at that date.

On each gable end there is a round louvered opening to the attic space.
The windows on the 1940 extension were steel-frame windows with
pivoting and fixed lights, matching those of the original bakery structure.
These windows have all been removed.

In 1940 two overhead roll-up doors were installed on the southwest side
and new double doors were installed on the addition part of the northeast
side, supplementing the small original doors (one each on the southeast
and northeast walls). A 1940 drawing shows two additional partition walls
were built, dividing the storage area in two and creating a small room on
the northwest end of the bakery area. (The 1949 drawing shows the
large rooms on the southwest side labeled as Storage Room and Dough
Room and the small room on the northeast side as "Sales Room"; these
may not have been the WWII uses for these spaces.) The original
chimney was removed and a new oven stack was built in 1940. The
extant collector boxes and downspouts at each corner date from the 1940
expansion.

None of the original windows or doors remains today. The window
openings have been walled up, replaced with smaller fixed windows, or
changed to door openings. One window opening has been mostly walled
up, but light is admitted by three rows of glass blocks at the top. Most of
the altered openings have been stuccoed over, but in a few the CMU infill
is just painted. The new smaller windows are generally rectangular,
unlike the more-or-less square original ones, and have varying
orientations, horizontal or vertical. There is no pattern to the new
windows. The original doors have been replaced with flush doors. On
the southwest side two new flush doors, with new metal awnings over
them, are in a former roll-up door opening and a former window opening.
The other metal roll-up door on the southwest side has been replaced by
a new one. The piping and equipment, for lighting and air conditioning,
attached to the exterior walls also detract from the historic appearance of
the building. The interior has been renovated many times to
accommodate several different uses (see History section below), and few
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historic design features or materials are visible inside, other than some
concrete piers of the concrete frame. Some terra cotta floor tiles were
seen in the late 1990s between carpeting and the original concrete slab
floor; these could be from the 1940s or date from the building's use as
an armory. It is not known if they remain after the most recent
remodeling. The exterior walls of the building still show the original and
1940 design, with slightly thicker bases, a thickened edge along the top
of the roof parapets, and a protruding horizontal band that runs just below
and parallel to the top of the parapet wall at the level of the bottom of the
roof trusses.

The bakery was located behind the main Marine Barracks building (Fac.
221, see HABS No HI-425), which held the mess facilities for the
Marines. When the seven additional H-shaped wooden barracks
buildings were under construction circa 1940, it was clear the bakery
needed additional room. About four times as much space was provided
in the enlarged building. The storage area was changed from a small
room in the corner of the original building to more than half the expanded
building. Changes in the design, such as the interior partitions and
additional roll-up door, apparently were made while the work was under
construction. The first drawing for the "extension" is dated August 1940
and a revised floor plan is dated December 1840. A 1949 drawing shows
that a second oven was added to the bakery, probably during WWII.
Because of the extra oven, a second oven stack, second louvered
ventilation projection, and a new projection housing the exhaust fan had
been built on the roof. In 1949 the building was reroofed. The building
continued to serve as a bakery through at least 1951. It is not known
when the ovens were removed from the building, but probably at that
date the two metal oven stacks and three ventilation and fan projections
were removed from the roof. By 1966 the building was being used as a
warehouse and post office. A 1980 inventory form noted past uses as
"Weight Room, Special Services, Athletic Dressing Room" (Chandler
1980). By 1980 the use of the building was changed to an armory and
guardhouse. For this use steel plates were installed to line the armory
room in the northwest corner of the building. In the late 1990s, the
building was remodeled again into a Media Center.

See HABS No. HI-402 for an overview history of the early decades of the
Marine Reservation and HABS No. HI-176 for a history of the expansion
of the area from 1939 through World War Il and after.

The original drawings for this building were not located, but drawings for
the 1940 expansion are on microfiche cards at the Plan Files of Naval
Facilities Engineering Command, Pacific, under drawing numbers 148728
and K-N4-163, K-N4-164, and K-N4-173. The 1949 repair drawing is
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Y&D no. 475582. A 1983 repair drawing for this facility is Y&D no.
7037127.

Chandler, JW.

1980  Historic Resources Inventory Form for Bldg. 273. On file
with State Historic Preservation Division, Hawaii Department
of Land and Natural Resources, in Pearl Harbor (Marine
Barracks) binder.

Marine Barracks Hawaii
n.d .Marine Barracks Hawaii, Command Chronology. 1928
page in Binder (b) 1916-1930, now located in Facility 1 at
Camp Smith, Hawaii.

U.S. Navy, Fourteenth Naval District
1951 Buildings and Structures List, Pearl Harbor, Oahu, T.H.
Drawing sheet no. 1-N1-322, on file with Jeffrey Dodge of
Naval Facilities Engineering Command, Pacific.

U. S. Navy
1966  Detailed Inventory of Naval Shore Facilities — Real Property
— Barracks Security, Pearl Harbor Hawaii. NAVDOCKS
P-164, filed at library of Naval Facilities Engineering
Command, Pacific.

1995  Defailed Inventory of Naval Shore Facilities — Real Property
— Station, Pearl Harbor Hawaii. NAVDOCKS P-164, from
Real Estate section of Naval Facilities Engineering
Command, Pacific.

Commander Navy Region (COMNAVREG) Hawaii has embarked on a
program of documentation of historic properties within its area of
responsibility, with the goal of recording historic information about each
property and establishing its context of significance. This information will
assist COMNAVREG Hawaii in the appropriate management of these
properties, be it routine repair and maintenance for continuing use,
rehabilitation for continuing use / adaptive reuse, or demolition. At this
time, specific action that may affect this facility has not been determined.
This report was prepared under a Historic Preservation Services contract
(N62742-97-D-3502) awarded to AMEC Earth and Environmental, the
prime contractor, by the U.S. Navy, Naval Facilities Engineering
Command, Pacific. The contract was funded through the Cultural
Resources Program of COMNAVREG Hawaii. The photographic
documentation was undertaken by David Franzen of Franzen
Photography. Maps were made by Nestor Beltran of NAB Graphics.
Katharine Slocumb and Ann Yoklavich of Mason Architects, Inc. did the
field and research work on this building and co-authored this report.
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Prepared by: Katharine Slocumb, Historic Architect and
Ann Yoklavich, Architectural Historian
Mason Architects, Inc.
119 Merchant Street, Suite 501
Honolulu, Hl 96813

Date of Final Report: February 2005
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Modified floor plan, December 1940 (14th N.D. Drawing no. K-N4-164)
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